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CARLOS JIMENEZ, Bar No. 227534 
cajimenez@littler.com 
PENNY CHEN, Bar No. 280706 
pchen@littler.com 
LITTLER MENDELSON, P.C. 
633 West 5th Street, 63rd Floor 
Los Angeles, CA  90071 
Telephone: 213.443.4300 
Fax No.: 213.443.4299 

Attorneys for Defendants 
GMRI, INC., OLIVE GARDEN HOLDINGS, 
LLC, DARDEN RESTAURANTS, INC. 

 

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

CENTRAL DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA 

ADRIENNE LIGGINS, individually 
and on behalf of others similarly 
situated and aggrieved, 

Plaintiff, 

v. 

GMRI, INC., A Florida corporation 
doing business as Olive Garden 
Italian Restaurant; OLIVE GARDEN 
HOLDINGS LLC, a Florida limited 
liability company; OLIVE 
GARDEN, LLC, a California limited 
liability Company; DARDEN 
RESTAURANTS, INC., a Florida 
corporation; OLIVE GARDEN 
ITALIAN RESTAURANT – 
MANHATTAN BEACH, an entity 
of unknown form; and OLIVE 
GARDEN ITALIAN 
RESTAURANT – HUNTINGTON 
BEACH, an entity of unknown form; 
and DOES 1 through 50, inclusive, 

Defendants. 

Case No.   

DEFENDANTS’ NOTICE OF 
REMOVAL OF CIVIL ACTION TO 
FEDERAL COURT 

[28 U.S.C. §§ 1332, 1441, & 1446] 

Complaint Filed on August 22, 2018 
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 TO THE CLERK OF THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT FOR 

THE CENTRAL DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA, PLAINTIFF ADRIENNE 

LIGGINS AND HER ATTORNEYS OF RECORD: 

 PLEASE TAKE NOTICE that Defendants GMRI, Inc. (“GMRI”), Olive 

Garden Holdings, LLC (“OGH”), and Darden Restaurants, Inc. (“Darden”) 

(collectively “Defendants”) hereby remove the above-entitled action brought by 

Plaintiff Adrienne Liggins (“Plaintiff”) in the Superior Court of the State of 

California, County of Los Angeles, to the United States District Court for the Central 

District of California, pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §§ 1332(d) (Class Action Fairness Act of 

2005 or “CAFA”), and 1446 on the following grounds: 

I. STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION & VENUE 

1. This Court has original jurisdiction over this action under the Class 

Action Fairness Act of 2005.  See 28 U.S.C. § 1332(d).  In relevant part, CAFA grants 

district courts original jurisdiction over civil class actions filed under federal or state 

law in which any member of a class of plaintiffs is a citizen of a state different from 

any defendant and where the amount in controversy for the putative class members in 

the aggregate exceeds the sum or value of $5,000,000.00, exclusive of interest and 

costs.  CAFA authorizes removal of such actions in accordance with 28 U.S.C. § 

1446.   

2. This Court has jurisdiction over this case under CAFA, 28 U.S.C. 

§1332(d), and this case may be removed pursuant to the provisions of 28 U.S.C. § 

1441(a), in that it is a civil class action wherein:  (1) the proposed class contains at 

least 100 members; (2) Defendants are not a state, state official or other governmental 

entity; (3) the total amount in controversy for all putative class members exceeds 

$5,000,000; and, (4) there is diversity between at least one class member and 

Defendants. 

3. CAFA’s diversity requirement is satisfied when at least one plaintiff is a 

citizen of a state in which the defendant is not a citizen.  See 28 U.S.C. §§ 
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1332(d)(2)(A), 1453. 

4. As set forth below, this case meets all of CAFA’s requirements for 

removal and is timely and properly removed by the filing of this Notice. 

5. This action was filed in the Superior Court for the State of California for 

the County of Los Angeles.  Accordingly, venue properly lies in the United States 

District Court for the Central District of California pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §§ 84, 1391, 

1441 and 1446. 

II. PLEADINGS, PROCESSES & ORDERS 

6. On August 22, 2018, an employment action was commenced in Los 

Angeles County Superior Court, entitled Adrienne Liggins, an individual, v. GMRI, 

Inc., a Florida corporation doing business as Olive Garden Italian Restaurant; Olive 

Garden Holdings, LLC, a Florida limited liability company; Olive Garden, LLC, a 

California limited liability Company; Darden Restaurants, Inc., a Florida 

corporation; Olive Garden Italian Restaurant – Manhattan Beach, an entity of 

unknown form; and Olive Garden Italian Restaurant – Huntington Beach, an entity of 

unknown form; and Does 1 through 50, inclusive, designated as Case No. BC717321 

(the “State Court Action”). Attached hereto as Exhibit A is a true and correct copy of 

the Complaint. 

7. In the Complaint, Plaintiff, a purported former employee of GMRI, Inc., 

alleges causes of action against all Defendants for (1) Failure to Provide Required 

Meal Periods; (2) Failure to Provide Required Rest Periods; (3) Failure to Pay 

Overtime Wages; (4) Failure to Pay Minimum Wages; (5) Failure to Timely Pay 

Wages; (6) Failure to Pay All Wages Due to Discharged and Quitting Employees; (7) 

Failure to Furnish Accurate Itemized Wage Statements; (8) Failure to Maintain 

Required Records; (9) Failure to Indemnify Employees for Necessary Expenditures 

Incurred in Discharge of Duties; (10) Unfair and Unlawful Business Practices; and 

(11) Representative Action for Civil Penalties (under Cal. Labor Code sections 2698-

2699.5 (“PAGA”).   
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8. Plaintiff served the Summons and Complaint on Defendant GMRI, Inc. 

on September 21, 2018.  Along with the Summons and Complaint, Plaintiff also 

delivered a Civil Case Cover Sheet, Stipulations and Orders for Early Organizational 

Meeting, Informal Discovery Resolution, and Motions in Limine, an Alternative 

Dispute Resolution Information Packet, and Notice of Case Assignment.  Attached as 

Exhibit B are true and correct copies of the foregoing and Proof of Service on GMRI, 

Inc. 

9. Plaintiff served the Summons and Complaint on Defendant Olive Garden 

Holdings, LLC on September 21, 2018.  Along with the Summons and Complaint, 

Plaintiff also delivered a Civil Case Cover Sheet, Stipulations and Orders for Early 

Organizational Meeting, Informal Discovery Resolution, and Motions in Limine, an 

Alternative Dispute Resolution Information Packet, and Notice of Case Assignment.  

Attached as Exhibit C are true and correct copies of the foregoing and Proof of 

Service on Olive Garden Holdings, LLC. 

10. Plaintiff served the Summons and Complaint on Defendant Darden 

Restaurants, Inc. on September 25, 2018.  Along with the Summons and Complaint, 

Plaintiff also delivered a Civil Case Cover Sheet, Stipulations and Orders for Early 

Organizational Meeting, Informal Discovery Resolution, and Motions in Limine, an 

Alternative Dispute Resolution Information Packet, and Notice of Case Assignment.  

Attached as Exhibit D are true and correct copies of the foregoing and Proof of 

Service on Darden Restaurants, Inc.   

11. On October 17, 2018, Defendants Darden, GMRI, and OGH filed an 

Answer in Superior Court for the County of Los Angeles. Attached hereto as Exhibit 

E is a true and correct conformed copy of that Answer. 

12. Pursuant to 28 U.S.C. section 1446(a), the attached exhibits constitute all 

process, pleadings and orders served upon Defendants or filed or received in this 

action by Defendants. 

13. As of the date of this Notice of Removal, and to Defendants knowledge, 
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no other parties have been served with the Summons and Complaint in this action.   

III. TIMELINESS OF REMOVAL 

14. An action may be removed from state court by filing a notice of removal, 

together with a copy of all process, pleadings, and orders served on the defendant, 

within 30 days of defendant receiving the initial pleading.  See 28 U.S.C. § 1446(b); 

Murphy Bros, Inc. v. Mitchetti Pipe Stringing, Inc., 526 U.S. 344, 354 (1999) (the 30-

day removal period runs from the service of the summons and complaint).  Defendants 

GMRI, OGH, and Darden were served with the Summons and Complaint on 

September 21, 2018 (GMRI and OGH) and September 25, 2018 (Darden).  This 

Notice of Removal is filed within thirty days of September 21, 2018 and is therefore 

timely.  

IV. DIVERSITY OF CITIZENSHIP 

15. CAFA’s minimal diversity requirement is satisfied, inter alia, when “any 

member of a class of plaintiffs is a citizen of a State different from any defendant.” 28 

U.S.C. §§ 1332(d)(2)(A); 1453(b). In a class action, only the citizenship of the named 

parties is considered for diversity purposes and not the citizenship of the class 

members. Snyder v. Harris, 394 U.S. 332, 339-40 (1969). Minimal diversity of 

citizenship exists here because Plaintiff and Defendants are citizens of different states. 

A. Plaintiff is a citizen of California.  

16. For diversity purposes, a person is a “citizen” of the state in which he or 

she is domiciled.  See Kantor v. Wellesley Galleries, Ltd., 704 F.2d 1088 (9th Cir. 

1983); see also LeBlanc v. Cleveland, 248 F.3d 95, 100 (2d Cir. 2001) (citizenship 

determined at the time the lawsuit is filed); see also Lundquist v. Precision Valley 

Aviation, Inc., 946 F.2d 8, 10 (1st Cir. 1991).  A person’s domicile is the place he or 

she resides with the intention to remain, or to which he or she intends to return.  See 

Kanter v. Warner–Lambert Co., 265 F.3d 853, 857 (9th Cir. 2001). Plaintiff was at the 

time of the filing of this action a resident of the State of California.  (Compl., ¶ 2.)  

Accordingly, Plaintiff is a citizen of the State of California.  
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B. Defendants are Citizens of Florida. 

17. For diversity purposes, a corporation is a citizen of its state of 

incorporation and the state where it has its principal place of business.  28 U.S.C. § 

1332(c)(1).  A corporation’s principal place of business refers to its nerve center or, in 

other words, the location where the corporation’s high level officers direct, control 

and coordinate the corporation’s activities.  See Hertz Corp. v. Friend, 559 U.S. 77, 

80-81, 92-95 (2010).  Except in unusual circumstances, a corporation’s corporate 

headquarters is in its ‘nerve center.’  Id. 

18. GMRI is, and was at the time this action was commenced, a corporation 

organized and formed under the laws of the State of Florida. See Declaration of 

Colleen Lyons (hereafter “Lyons Decl.”), ¶ 2. GMRI’s maintains its corporate 

headquarters in Orlando, Florida and its executive director makes the corporation’s 

operational, executive, and administrative policy decisions primarily from its 

corporate headquarters in Orlando, Florida. (Lyons Decl., ¶¶ 8-12); see also Breitman 

v. May Co. California, 37 F.3d 562, 564 (9th Cir. 1994) (corporation is citizen of state 

in which its corporate headquarters are located and where its executive and 

administrative functions are performed.) Orlando, Florida is therefore GMRI’s 

principal place of business. Accordingly, GMRI is not a citizen of the State in which 

this action is pending and is a citizen of a different State than that of Plaintiff. 

19. Darden is, and was at the time this action was commenced, a corporation 

organized and formed under the laws of the State of Florida. (Lyons Decl. ¶ 3.) 

Darden has no employees, its corporate headquarters are located in Orlando, Florida 

and its executive officers direct, control, and coordinate the corporation’s activities 

and executive functions primarily from its corporate headquarters in Orlando, Florida. 

(Lyons Decl., ¶¶ 13-19); see also Breitman, 37 F.3d at 564. Orlando, Florida is 

therefore Darden’s principal place of business. Accordingly, Darden is not a citizen of 

the State in which this action is pending and is a citizen of a different State than that of 

Plaintiff. 
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20. The citizenship of a Limited Liability Company is determined by the 

citizenship of each member of the company.  Johnson v. Columbia Properties 

Anchorage, LP, 437 F.3d 894, 899 (9th Cir. 2006).   

21. OGH is, and was at the time this action was commenced, a limited 

liability company with its sole member residing in Florida.  (Lyons Decl. ¶ 4.) 

Accordingly, OGH is not a citizen of the State in which this action is pending and is a 

citizen of a different State than that of Plaintiff. 

22. Plaintiff is a citizen of California, Defendants Darden, GMRI and OGH 

are citizens of Florida, therefore the minimal diversity requirement of 28 U.S.C. 

section 1332(d)(2)(A) is satisfied. 

23. Defendants Does 1 through 50 are fictitious.  The Complaint does not set 

forth the identity of or any allegations against these Defendants as individuals.  Their 

citizenship should be disregarded for the purposes of determining diversity 

jurisdiction.  28 U.S.C. § 1441(a); see also Fristoe v. Reynolds Metals Co., 615 F.2d 

1209, 1213 (9th Cir. 1980). 

24. Because the remaining non-moving defendants have not yet been served, 

they need not join or consent to Defendants’ Notice of Removal.  Destfino v. Reiswig, 

630 F.3d 952, 955 (9th Cir. 2011) (codefendants not properly served need not join in 

removal); Cmty. Bldg. Co. v. Md. Cas. Co. 8 F.2d 678, 678-79 (9th Cir. 1925) (named 

defendants not yet served in state court action need not join in the notice of removal). 

V. PROPOSED CLASS CONTAINS AT LEAST 100 MEMBERS  

25. Plaintiff was employed by GMRI from around January 2016 to around 

May 2016 in Manhattan Beach, California, then from around April 2017 to mid-2017 

in Huntington Beach, California.  (Compl., ¶ 4.) Plaintiff seeks to represent current 

and former hourly, non-exempt employees of Defendants in the State of California 

during the period of August 22, 2014 until the time it settles or proceeds to final 

judgment. (Compl., ¶ 6.)   

26. GMRI employed at least 30,390 current and former non-exempt 
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employees in the State of California between August 22, 2014 and October 11, 2018. 

(Declaration of Randolph Babitt (hereafter “Babitt Decl.”), ¶ 4.)  

27.  GMRI employed at least 26,156 current and former non-exempt 

employees in the State of California between August 22, 2014 and October 11, 2018. 

(Babitt Decl., ¶ 6.) 

VI. DEFENDANTS ARE NOT GOVERNMENTAL ENTITIES 

28. Defendants are not states, state officials, or other governmental entities.  

Defendants are corporations organized and formed under the laws of the State of 

Florida.  (Lyons Decl., ¶¶ 2-4.) 

VII. AMOUNT IN CONTROVERSY EXCEEDS $5,000,000.001 

29. The CAFA requires the “matter in controversy” to exceed “the sum or 

value of $5,000,000 exclusive of interest and costs.”  28 U.S.C. § 1332(d)(2).  “The 

claims of the individual class members shall be aggregated to determine whether the 

matter in controversy exceeds” this amount.  28 U.S.C. § 1332(d)(6).  Here, Plaintiff 

does not allege the amount in controversy in the Complaint, but the face of the 

Complaint clearly demonstrates that the amount in controversy in this case exceeds 

$5,000,000.2 

30. A defendant seeking to remove a case to federal court need only file “a 

notice of removal ‘containing a short and plain statement of the grounds for removal’” 

as stated under 28 U.S.C. section 1446(a).  Dart Cherokee Basin Operating Co., LLC 

v. Owens, 135 S. Ct. at 553.  According to the United State Supreme Court, “[b]y 

                                                 
1 The alleged damages calculations contained herein are for purposes of removal only. 
Defendants deny that Plaintiff is entitled to any relief whatsoever and expressly 
reserves the right to challenge Plaintiff’s alleged damages in this case.   
2 Plaintiff alleges that damages arising from its Sixth Cause of Action for Failure to 
Pay All Wages Due to Discharged and Quitting Employees are “not in excess of the 
jurisdiction of this Court.”  (Compl., ¶ 48.)  Because there is no maximum amount 
which may be subject to jurisdiction of the Los Angeles Superior Court, there is 
nothing to indicate that total amount in controversy would not be equal to or in excess 
of the $5,000,000.00 minimum under CAFA jurisdiction. 
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design, §1446(a) tracks the general pleading requirement stated in Rule 8(a) of the 

Federal Rules of Civil Procedure” and thus, on removal, federal courts are to accept 

the defendant’s “amount-in-controversy allegation when not contested by the plaintiff 

or questioned by the court.”  Id.  Accordingly, “a defendant’s notice of removal need 

include only a plausible allegation that the amount in controversy exceeds the 

jurisdictional threshold.”  Id. at 554.       

31. Defendants expressly deny any liability for the damages alleged in 

Plaintiff’s Complaint.  However, for purposes of determining whether the minimum 

amount in controversy has been satisfied, the Court must presume that Plaintiff will 

prevail on his or her claims.  Kenneth Rothschild Trust v. Morgan Stanley Dean 

Witter, 199 F. Supp. 2d 993, 1001 (C.D. Cal. 2002) (citing Burns v. Windsor Ins. Co., 

31 F.3d 1092, 1096 (11th Cir. 1994) (stating that the amount in controversy analysis 

presumes that “plaintiff prevails on liability”).  The ultimate inquiry is what amount is 

put “in controversy” by plaintiff’s complaint, not what defendant might actually owe.  

Rippee v. Boston Market Corp., 408 F. Supp. 2d 982, 986 (S.D. Cal. 2005).  

32. By way of her Complaint, Plaintiff seeks to “recover, among other 

things: wages and penalties from unpaid wages earned and due, including, but not 

limited to, unpaid minimum wages, unpaid and illegally calculated overtime 

compensation, illegal meal and rest period policies, failure to pay all wages dues to 

discharged and quitting employees, failure to indemnify employees for necessary 

expenditures and/or losses incurred in discharging their duties, failure to provide 

accurate itemized wage statements, failure to maintain required records, and interest . . 

.”  (Compl., ¶5.)  Plaintiff also seeks to recover on behalf of herself and the putative 

class members additional damages arising from this alleged conduct, including: 

compensatory damages; restitution and disgorged profits; premiums; liquidated 

damages; statutory and civil penalties; interest at 10% per annum; costs; and 

attorneys’ fees.  (Compl., Prayer for Relief.) 

33. Additionally, Plaintiff alleges a cause of action for violation of the Unfair 
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Competition Law (“UCL”), Business and Professions Code § 17200, et seq.  (Compl., 

¶¶ 60-65.)  Alleging a UCL violation extends the statute of limitations of several of 

Plaintiff’s and the putative class’ wage and hour claims from three to four years from 

the filing of the Complaint, which in this case, extends the statute of limitations to 

August 22, 2014.  See Cal. Bus. & Prof. Code § 17208; Cortez v. Purolater Air 

Filtration Products Co., 23 Cal. 4th 163, 178-79 (2000) (four-year statute of 

limitations for restitution of wages under the UCL).  

34. Finally, Plaintiff alleges that “[t]he potential class is a significant 

number,” and that Defendants engaged in a “systematic course of illegal payroll 

practices and policies” which “applied to all non-exempt employees.”  (Compl., ¶18a-

b.)  

35. Between August 22, 2014 and October 11, 2018, GMRI employed at 

least 30,390 current and former hourly, non-exempt employees California. (Babitt 

Decl., ¶ 4.)  Based on the available employment records, the time period Plaintiff has 

placed at issue, and the number of employees at issue, Plaintiff has placed 1,942,649 

workweeks in controversy, based on the hire and termination dates of the putative 

class members.  (Babitt Decl., ¶ 5.) 

36. Plaintiff was employed from January 2016 until August 2016, then again 

from April 2017 through September 2017.   (Babitt Decl., ¶ 10.)   

A.  Failure to Provide Off-Duty Meal and Rest Periods 

37. In support of and by way of her first and second causes of action, 

Plaintiff alleges that Defendants “failed to otherwise provide the required meal 

periods to PLAINTIFF and CLASS MEMBERS,” and “failed to provide rest periods 

to PLAINTIFF and CLASS MEMBERS.”  (Compl., ¶¶20, 26.) 

38. Pursuant to the California Court of Appeal’s decision in United Parcel 

Service Wage & Hour Cases, 196 Cal. App. 4th 57, 69 (2011), should Plaintiff sustain 

her burden of proof, Plaintiff and the putative class members could be entitled to one 

hour of premium pay for a missed meal period and one hour of premium pay for a 
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missed rest break in a single day. 

39. Although Plaintiff does not allege the number of shifts worked per 

workweek, the number of shifts in which meal or rest periods were required, the 

number of missed meal or rest periods, or any other specific allegations, Plaintiff 

alleges that Defendants maintained a “systematic course” of failing to pay employees 

for all hours worked, including overtime.  (Compl. ¶¶ 18b.)  Plaintiff also alleges that 

“[t]he putative class is a significant number,” and that “DEFENDANTS subjected all 

non-exempt employees to identical violations.”  (Compl., ¶¶18a-c.) 

 1. Plaintiff’s Meal Period Claim 

40. Plaintiff alleges that “[d]uring the CLASS PERIOD, as part of 

DEFENDANTS’ illegal payroll policies and practices to deprive their non-exempt 

employees all wages earned and due, DEFENDANTS required, permitted or 

otherwise suffered PLAINTIFF and CLASS MEMBERS to take less than a 30-minute 

meal period, or to work through them, and have failed to otherwise provide the 

required meal periods to PLAINTIFF and CLASS MEMBERS. . .”  (Compl.,  ¶20.) 

41. As detailed above, between August 22, 2014 and October 11, 2018, 

GMRI employed at least 30,390 current and former hourly, non-exempt employees 

California. (Babitt Decl., ¶ 4-5.)  Based on the available employment records, the time 

period Plaintiff has placed at issue, and the number of employees at issue, Plaintiff has 

placed 1,942,649 workweeks in controversy, based on the hire and termination dates 

of the putative class members.  (Babitt Decl., ¶ 4-5.)   

42. However, contrary to Plaintiff’s allegations, Defendants maintain that 

Plaintiff’s meal period claim is subject to a three year statute of limitations.  Between 

August 22, 2015 and October 11, 2018, GMRI employed at least 26,156 current and 

former hourly, non-exempt employees California. (Babitt Decl., ¶ 6-7.)  Based on the 

available employment records, the time period Plaintiff has placed at issue, and the 

number of employees at issue, Plaintiff has conservatively placed a minimum of 

1,513,744 workweeks in controversy, based on the hire and termination dates of the 
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putative class members during this time period. (Babitt Decl., ¶ 6-7.)   

43. Applying the shorter three year time period, the conservative amount in 

controversy for GMRI’s alleged failure to provide off-duty meal periods would be 

approximately $15,137,440.00.  Although Plaintiff maintains that Defendants’ 

violations were of “systematic course,” (Compl., ¶18b) this number assumes that that 

Plaintiff and each class member missed only one meal period per week during the 

shorter limitations period.   If the longer limitations period were applied, and we one 

meal period is assumed, the amount in controversy would be $19,426,490.00.  These 

figures are calculated as follows: 

Years at 

Issue 

Meal Period 

Violations 

Per Week  

Weeks 

 

Hourly 

Rate3 
Amount in Controversy 

3 1 1,513,744 $10.00 $15,137,440.00 

4 1 1,942,649 $10.00 $19,426,490.00 

 2. Plaintiff’s Rest Period Claim 

44. Plaintiff alleges that Defendants “failed to provide rest periods to 

PLAINTIFF and CLASS MEMBERS,” and “fail[ed] to pay PLAINITFF and CLASS 

MEMBERSs who were not provided with a rest period . . . one additional hour of 

compensation at each employee’s regular rate of pay for each workday that a rest 

period was not provided.”  (Compl., ¶¶25-26.)  

45. Accepting the allegations that the putative class members missed a rest 

break in the same way that they missed meal breaks as calculated in ¶43 above, the 

amount in controversy for putative class members on this cause of action would equal 

$15,137,440.00, assuming one violations per week during the shorter limitations 

period, and $19,426,490.00 assuming one violation per week during the longer 

limitations period.  These figures are calculated as follows: 
                                                 
3 For purposes of this removal, Defendants calculations are based on California’s 2016 
state minimum wage rate of $10.00. 
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Years at 

Issue 

Rest Break 

Violations 

Per Week  

Weeks 

 

Hourly 

Rate4 
Amount in Controversy 

3 1 1,513,744 $10.00 $15,137,440.00 

4 1 1,942,649 $10.00 $19,426,490.00 

B. Waiting Time Penalties  

46. In her sixth cause of action, Plaintiff alleges that “[d]uring the CLASS 

PERIOD, DEFENDANTS have willfully failed to pay accrued wages and other 

compensation to PLAINTIFF and CLASS MEMBERS in accordance with California 

Labor Code §§ 201 and 202.”  (Compl., ¶46.)  Plaintiff also alleges that [a]s a result, 

PLAINTIFF and CLASS MEMBERS are entitled to all available statuary penalties, 

including the waiting time penalties provided in California Labor Code § 203, 

together with interest thereon. . .”  (Compl., ¶47.)  

47. Section 203 provides for one-day’s wages for each day an employee who 

has separated from his or her employment is not paid all wages owed, up to a total of 

30 days’ of wages (“waiting time penalty”).  Cal. Lab Code. § 203.  California Labor 

Code is subject to a three-year statute of limitations.  See Pineda v. Bank of America, 

50 Cal. 4th 1389 (2010).  Thus, the applicable look-back period for purposes of 

calculating waiting time penalties dates back to August 22, 2015.   

48. Based on GMRI’s payroll data, an estimated 16,247 putative class 

members have separated their employment with GMRI since August 22, 2015.  

(Babitt Decl., ¶ 8.)  Thus, the amount in controversy with respect to Plaintiff’s sixth 

cause of action for waiting time penalties is $29,244,600.00, which is calculated as 

follows: 16,247 separated putative class members x $10.00 an hour x 6 hours x 30 

days.   

                                                 
4 For purposes of this removal, Defendants calculations are based on California’s 2016 
state minimum wage rate of $10.00. 
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C. Wage Statements 

49. In her seventh5 cause of action, Plaintiff also alleges that “[d]uring the 

CLASS PERIOD, DEFENDANTS routinely failed to provide PLAINTIFF and 

CLASS MEMBERS with timely, accurate, and itemized wage statements in writing 

showing each employee’s gross wages, total hours worked, all deductions made, net 

wages earned, the name of and address of the legal entity or entities employing 

PLAINTIFF and CLASS MEMBERS, and all applicable hourly rates in effect during 

each pay period and the corresponding number of hours worked at each hourly rate, in 

violation of California Labor Code §226 and IWC Wage Order No. 5-2001 §7.”  

(Compl., ¶¶ 53.)   The statutory penalty for such a violation is $50 for the first pay 

period, and $100 for each subsequent pay period, up to a total maximum of penalty of 

$4,000.  Cal. Lab. Code §226(e).  California Labor Code §226(e) has a one-year 

statute of limitations.  Blackwell v. SkyWest Airlines, Inc., 245 F.R.D. 453, 462 (S.D. 

Cal. 2007). 

50. GMRI pays its non-exempt employees on a weekly basis.  (Babitt Decl., 

¶ 3.) Therefore, there are 52 pay periods per year.  While Defendants deny the validity 

and merit of Plaintiff’s claims, for purposes of removal only, Defendants determine 

the amount in controversy by applying the maximum penalty recoverable to 

employees that worked more than 41 workweeks.  During the one year statute of 

limitations period from August 22, 2017 to October 11, 2018, GMRI employed 

approximately 16,285 putative class members.  (Babitt Decl., ¶ 9.) Of those 16,285 

putative class members, 7,621 putative class members were employed for 41 or more 

workweeks based on hire and termination dates. The remaining 8,664 putative class 

members were employed for a total of 146,256 workweeks based on hire and 

                                                 
5 Although Plaintiff’s seventh cause of action is entitled “Failure to Furnish Accurate 
Itemized Wage Statements,” and her eighth cause of action is entitled “Failure to 
Maintain Required Records,” the allegations asserted under each heading appears to 
correspond with the other claim. 
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termination dates.  (Babitt Decl., ¶ 9.)    

51. Based on amount of penalties that Plaintiff would be entitled to recover 

under section 226 of the California Labor Code, the fact that employees are paid on a 

weekly basis, and that the one-year statute of limitations would permit Plaintiff to 

recover penalties for the time period commencing August 22, 2017, the amount in 

controversy for this claim is $44,676,400.00.  The amount is calculated as follows: 

For the 7,621 employees who worked 41 or more workweeks during the statutory 

period, their penalties are capped at the statutory dollar amount of $4,000 per 

employee, which equals $30,484,000.00.  The estimated penalties for the remaining 

8,664 employees who worked less than 41 workweeks equals $14,192,400.00 (8,664 x 

$50 for the first penalty) + (146,256-8,664 for subsequent violations x $100). Added 

together, the potential amount in controversy for Plaintiff’s claim for wage statement 

violations is $44,676,400.00.   

52. The aggregate amount in controversy exceeds the $5,000,000 

jurisdictional minimum: 

Plaintiff’s Claims Amount in Controversy 

Meal Break Premiums $15,137,440.00 to $19,426,490.00 

Rest Break Premiums $15,137,440.00 to $19,426,490.00 

Waiting Time Penalties $29,244,600.00 

Inaccurate Wage Statement $44,676,400.00 

TOTAL 

(exclusive of any potential damages for 

Plaintiff’s claims for: (1) Unpaid 

Overtime; (2) Unpaid Minimum Wages; 

(3) Failure to Timely Pay Wages; (4) 

Failure to Maintain Accurate Records; 

(5) Failure to Reimburse Business 

$104,195,880.00 to 

$112,773,980.00  
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Expenses; (6) and attorneys’ fees) 

53. Indeed, were damages exposure extended through trial, the totals would 

be even higher.  Mejia v. DHL Express (USA), Inc., 2015 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 67212, *6, 

2015 WL 2452755 (C.D. Cal. May 21, 2015) (where the Complaint does not cut off 

class allegations as of the date the complaint was filed, including post-filing time in 

removal computations is consistent with the allegations in the complaint and 

permissible).   

54. Moreover, Plaintiff seeks attorneys’ fees and costs in his Complaint    

(Compl., Prayer for Relief.)   It is well-settled that claims for statutory attorneys’ fees 

are to be included in the amount in controversy.  See, e.g., Kroske v. U.S. Bank Corp., 

432 F.3d 976, 980 (9th Cir. 2005), cert. denied, 127 S. Ct. 157 (2006); Galt G/S v. JSS 

Scandinavia, 142 F.3d 1150, 1155-1156 (9th Cir. 1998) (attorneys’ fees may be taken 

into account to determine jurisdictional amounts).  The attorneys’ fees benchmark in 

the Ninth Circuit is 25%. Paul, Johnson, Alston & Hunt v. Graulty, 886 F.2d 268, 272 

(9th Cir. 1989) (“We note with approval that one court has concluded that the "bench 

mark" percentage for the fee award should be 25 percent.”) (citation omitted.); Lo v. 

Oxnard Euro. Motors, LLC, 2012 US. Dist. LEXIS 73983 at *9 (“The Ninth Circuit 

has accepted as a benchmark for an attorneys' fees awards a twenty-five percent of the 

common fund recovery.”) 

55. Removal of this action is therefore proper as the aggregate value of 

Plaintiff’s class causes of action for unpaid overtime and minimum wage, unpaid meal 

and rest periods premiums, final wages not timely paid, non-compliant wage 

statements, and attorneys’ fees is well in excess of the CAFA jurisdictional 

requirement of $5 million.  See 28 U.S.C. § 1332(d)(2). 
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VIII. NOTICE TO PLAINTIFF AND STATE COURT 

56. Contemporaneously with the filing of this Notice of Removal in the 

United States District Court for the Central District of California, written notice of 

such filing will be served by the undersigned on Plaintiff’s Counsel of Record and a 

copy of the Notice of Removal will be filed with the Clerk of the Superior Court of 

California, County of Los Angeles.  
 
Dated:October 18, 2018 
 

 

/s/ Carlos Jimenez  
CARLOS JIMENEZ 
PENNY CHEN 
LITTLER MENDELSON, P.C. 
Attorneys for Defendants 
GMRI, INC., OLIVE GARDEN 
HOLDINGS, LLC, DARDEN 
RESTAURANTS, INC. 
 

 
 
 
FIRMWIDE:158321037.4 069299.1178  
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 Defendants GMRI, INC. (“GMRI”), OLIVE GARDEN HOLDINGS, LLC (“OGH”), 

DARDEN RESTAURANTS, INC. (“Darden”) (collectively “Defendants”) for themselves only, 

answer the unverified Class Action Complaint (“Complaint”) filed by Plaintiff Adrienne Liggins 

(“Plaintiff”) as follows. 

GENERAL DENIAL 

 Pursuant to California Code of Civil Procedure section 431.30, Defendants generally deny 

each and every allegation contained in the Complaint. Defendants further deny that Plaintiff has 

been damaged in any sum, or at all, by reason of any act or omission on the part of Defendants or 

any of its representatives, agents, servants, or employees. 

AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSES 

 Defendants have not completed their investigation of the facts and circumstances raised in 

the Complaint. As such, Defendants reserve the right to amend or supplement their Answer and to 

plead further defenses.  Defendants assert the following separate and distinct affirmative or other 

defenses. In so doing, however, Defendants do not concede that they have the burden of production 

or proof as to any defense asserted below. 

FIRST AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE 

(Failure To State A Claim) 

 1. As a separate and distinct affirmative defense, Defendants allege that Plaintiff’s 

and/or the alleged putative class members’ claims in the Complaint, and each cause of action therein, 

fail to state a claim sufficient to constitute a cause of action upon which relief can be granted.   

SECOND AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE 

(Arbitration) 

 2. As a separate and distinct affirmative defense, Defendants allege that Plaintiff’s 

and/or the alleged putative class members’ claims may be subject to binding arbitration of the 

claims, which cannot be brought on a collective or representative basis and/or that each purported 

cause of action therein cannot be maintained because Plaintiff has failed to pursue the arbitration 

remedies by filing the instant action. 
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THIRD AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE 

(Equitable Defenses) 

 3. As a separate and distinct affirmative defense, Defendants allege that Plaintiff’s 

and/or the alleged putative class members’ claims are barred, in whole or in part, by the doctrines of 

waiver, estoppel, laches, consent and/or unclean hands. 

FOURTH AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE 

(Federal Preemption) 

 4. As a separate and distinct affirmative defense, Defendants allege that to the extent 

Plaintiff’s and/or the alleged putative class members’ claims involve conduct that is, or seek 

remedies that are, governed or preempted by federal laws, such claims are preempted and the Court 

lacks subject matter jurisdiction over them. 

FIFTH AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE 

(Exemption) 

 5. As a separate and distinct affirmative defense, Defendants allege that Plaintiff’s 

and/or the alleged putative class members’ claims are barred, in whole or in part, because, Plaintiff 

and/or the alleged putative class members’ claims were exempt from overtime, including pursuant to 

the California Wage Orders.   

SIXTH AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE 

(Exemption – No Performance) 

 6. As a separate and distinct affirmative defense, Defendants are informed and believes 

that a reasonable opportunity for investigation and discovery will reveal, and on that basis allege, 

that the Complaint, and each cause of action set forth therein, or some of them, are barred to the 

extent that Plaintiff and/or the putative class members she seeks to represent, or some of them, did 

not perform their duties in accordance with the reasonable expectations of Defendants and/or in the 

manner directed by Defendants, and accordingly such acts or omissions cannot deprive Defendants 

the benefit of the exemption from overtime consistent with Ramirez v. Yosemite Water Co., 20 Cal. 

4th 785 (2000).   
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SEVENTH AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE 

(Exhaustion) 

 7. As a separate and distinct affirmative defense, Defendants allege that the Complaint 

and each cause of action set forth therein are barred because Plaintiff failed to timely, properly 

and/or completely exhaust all of the applicable contractual, administrative and/or statutorily required 

remedies available to her, and that such failure bars this suit in whole or in part. 

EIGHTH AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE 

(Statute Of Limitations) 

 8. As a separate and distinct affirmative defense, Defendants allege that each purported 

cause of action set forth in the Complaint may be barred, in whole or in part, by the applicable 

statute(s) of limitation, including but not limited to, California Code of Civil Procedure sections 337, 

338 and 340, Labor Code Section 203, and/or Business and Professions Code section 17208.   

NINTH AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE 

(Breach Of Duties) 

 9. As a separate and distinct affirmative defense to the Complaint, Defendants allege 

that Plaintiff and/or putative class member claims are barred by their own breach of duties owed to 

Defendants, including but not limited to those under California Labor Code sections 2853, 2854 and 

2856. 

TENTH AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE 

(Bona Fide Dispute) 

 10. As a separate and distinct affirmative defense to the Complaint, Defendants allege 

there exists a bona fide dispute as to whether any additional compensation is actually due to Plaintiff 

or to any putative class member, and if so, the amount thereof. 

ELEVENTH AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE 

(Class Action – Certification Prerequisites) 

 11. As a separate and distinct affirmative defense, Defendants allege that Plaintiff’s 

Complaint, and each cause of action therein, fails to state a cognizable class under Section 382 of the 

California Rules of Civil Procedure, or any other applicable rule or law regulating the maintenance 
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of class actions, because: (a) Plaintiff cannot establish the necessary elements for class treatment; (b) 

a class action is not an appropriate method for the fair and efficient adjudication of the class claims 

described in the Complaint; (c) common issues of fact or law do not predominate, rather, to the 

contrary, individual issues predominate; (d) Plaintiff’s claims are not typical of the claims of the 

alleged putative class; (e) Plaintiff cannot fairly and adequately represent the interests of the alleged 

putative class; (f) class treatment is neither appropriate nor constitutional under the circumstances in 

this case; and/or (g) a well-defined community of interest in the questions of law and/or fact 

affecting Plaintiff and the members of the alleged putative class does not exist. 

TWELFTH AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE 

(Class Action – Standing) 

 12. As a separate and distinct affirmative defense to the Complaint, and each cause of 

action therein, Defendants allege that Plaintiff lacks standing to assert the legal rights or interests of 

others. 

THIRTEENTH AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE 

(Class Action – Lack Of Manageability) 

 13. As a separate and distinct affirmative defense, Defendants allege that the Complaint, 

and each cause of action therein, cannot proceed as a purported class action because of difficulties 

that render the action unmanageable. 

FOURTEENTH AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE 

(Class Action – Violation Of Due Process) 

 14. As a separate and distinct affirmative defense, Defendants allege that certification of 

a class and/or allowing the action to proceed with Plaintiff as a representative, as applied to the facts 

and circumstances of this case, would constitute a denial of Defendants’ due process rights, both 

substantive and procedural, in violation of the Fourteenth Amendment to the United States 

Constitution and the California Constitution. 
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FIFTEENTH AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE 

(Class Action – No Damages) 

 15. As a separate and distinct affirmative defense, Defendants allege that this case cannot 

be tried on a representative basis or with the use of statistical sampling because the use of 

representative evidence or statistical sampling could/would result in damages being awarded to those 

who have suffered no injury and have no legal right to damages. 

SIXTEENTH AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE 

(No Wage Violation – “Hours Worked”) 

 16. As a separate and distinct affirmative defense, Defendants allege that some or all of 

the hours claimed by Plaintiff and/or the alleged putative class members are not “hours worked” 

within the meaning of any Wage Order(s) issued by the California Industrial Welfare Commission 

and/or under applicable California law and, thus, do not require minimum wage compensation, or 

any compensation at all. 

SEVENTEENTH AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE 

(De Minimis) 

 17. As a separate and distinct affirmative defense, Defendants allege that the Complaint, 

and each cause of action therein, are barred, in whole or in part, because some or all of the disputed 

time for which Plaintiff and/or the alleged putative class members seek to recover wages purportedly 

owed is not compensable pursuant to the de minimis doctrine. 

EIGHTEENTH AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE 

(Secreted Or Absented)  

 18. Plaintiff’s and/or the alleged putative class members’ claims for alleged failure to pay 

wages are barred to the extent that Defendants did not reasonably know hours were worked by 

Plaintiff and/or the putative class members Plaintiff seeks to represent, to the extent Plaintiff or the 

putative class members Plaintiff seeks to represent deliberately prevented Defendants from acquiring 

knowledge of the hours worked and/or to the extent Plaintiff and/or the putative class she seeks to 

represent secreted or absented themselves to avoid payment of wages. 
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NINETEENTH AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE 

(Meal Periods – Waiver) 

 19. As a separate and distinct affirmative defense, Defendants allege that Plaintiff and/or 

the alleged putative class members waived their meal periods, including but not limited to: 1)  any 

day in which their total work period was no more than six hours; 2) any day in which the total work 

period was between ten and twelve hours and Plaintiff and/or the alleged putative class members 

waived their second meal period and did not waive their first meal period; and 3) any day in which a 

meal period was provided by Defendants but not taken or otherwise voluntarily waived by Plaintiff 

and/or the alleged putative class members, as a result of the exercise of discretion, independent 

judgment, and self-determination. 

TWENTIETH AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE 

(Meal Breaks And Rest Periods Provided) 

 20. The meal period and rest breaks claims of Plaintiff and the putative class members 

Plaintiff seeks to represent fail, in whole or in part, because Defendants provided meal periods and 

rest breaks in compliance with California law and did not prevent Plaintiff or the putative class 

members from taking such meal periods and rest breaks. 

TWENTY-FIRST AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE 

(Wage Statements – No “Knowing And Intentional Failure”) 

 22. As a separate and distinct affirmative defense, Defendants allege that even assuming 

Plaintiff and/or the alleged putative class members were not provided with a proper itemized 

statement of wages and deductions, which Defendants deny, Plaintiff and/or the alleged putative 

class members are not entitled to recover any damages or penalties because, pursuant to Labor Code 

section 226(e) and/or other applicable California law, any alleged non-compliance was not a 

“knowing and intentional failure” by Defendants and, instead, was inadvertent and not willful. 

TWENTY-SECOND AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE 

(Labor Code Section 203) 

 23. As a separate and distinct affirmative defense, Defendants allege that any claims 

pursuant to or related to Labor Code section 203 are barred to the extent that Plaintiff or putative 
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class members secreted or absented themselves to avoid payment of wages, thereby relieving 

Defendants of liability for waiting time penalties. 

TWENTY-THIRD AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE 

(Labor Code Sections 201-203 – Payment Of All Wages) 

 24. As a separate and distinct affirmative defense, Defendants allege that while 

Defendants dispute any discharge of Plaintiff or putative class members, Defendants paid all wages 

due to Plaintiff and/or the alleged putative class members when their employment with Defendants 

ended. 

TWENTY-FOURTH AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE 

(Labor Code Section 203 – No Willful Or Intentional Violation) 

 25. As a separate and distinct affirmative defense, Defendants allege that the Complaint 

fails to state a claim for penalties under California Labor Code section 203 because Defendants did 

not willfully or intentionally violate Labor Code sections 201 or 202. 

TWENTY-FIFTH AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE 

(Labor Code Sections 201 And 202 – Good Faith Dispute) 

 26. As a separate and distinct affirmative defense, Defendants allege that the Complaint 

fails to state a claim for penalties under the California Labor Code because (1) there are bona fide 

good faith disputes as to whether further compensation is due to Plaintiff and/or the putative class 

members, and if so, as to the amount of such further compensation; (2) Defendants have not willfully 

failed to pay such additional compensation, if any is owed; and (3) to impose penalties in this case 

would be inequitable and unjust. 

TWENTY-SIXTH AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE 

(Business And Professions Code §§ 17200 Et Seq. – Violates Due Process) 

 27. As a separate and distinct affirmative defense, Defendants allege that the Unfair 

Competition Law, Business and Professions Code section 17200, et seq., is vague and overbroad, 

and that prosecution of a representative action under said statute, as applied to the facts and 

circumstances of this case, would constitute a denial of Defendants’ due process rights, both 

substantive and procedural, in violation of the Fourteenth Amendment to the United States 
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Constitution and the California Constitution. 

TWENTY-SEVENTH AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE 

(Adequate Remedy At Law – No Declaratory/Injunctive Relief) 

 28. As a separate and distinct affirmative defense, Defendants allege that Plaintiff and/or 

the alleged putative class members are not entitled to equitable relief insofar as they have an 

adequate remedy at law. Defendants further allege that Plaintiff has no standing to seek injunctive 

relief or assert claims on behalf of others currently employed. 

TWENTY-EIGHTH AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE 

(Actions Outside Scope Of Employment) 

 29. As a separate and distinct affirmative defense, Defendants allege that if Plaintiff 

and/or the alleged putative class members suffered any damages that were proximately or legally 

caused by the actions of Defendants’ employees, which Defendants deny, such actions were 

committed outside the course and scope of such employees’ employment and were not authorized, 

adopted or ratified by Defendants and/or Defendants neither knew of nor should it have known of 

such conduct. 

TWENTY-NINTH AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE 

(Good Faith) 

 30. As a separate and distinct affirmative defense, Defendants allege that the Complaint, 

and each cause of action therein, cannot be maintained because, without admitting that any violation 

took place, Defendants allege that any violation of the Labor Code and/or of any order of the 

Industrial Welfare Commission was an act or omission made in good faith, and that Defendants, in 

any participation in such acts, had reasonable grounds for believing that the act or omission was not 

a violation of the Labor Code and/or any order of the Industrial Welfare Commission. 

THIRTIETH AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE 

(Substantial Compliance) 

 31. Defendants allege that, even assuming, arguendo, that Defendants failed to comply 

with any provision of the Labor Code, including Labor Code sections 226.7 and 512, Defendants 

substantially complied with the Labor Code and or any applicable Wage Orders and Regulations, 
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thus rendering an award of civil penalties inappropriate under the circumstances. 

THIRTY-FIRST AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE 

(No Basis For Attorneys’ Fees And Costs) 

 32. As a separate and distinct affirmative defense, Defendants allege that Plaintiff failed 

to state facts sufficient to constitute a claim for which attorneys’ fees and costs may be awarded. 

THIRTY-SECOND AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE 

(Interest) 

 33. As a separate and distinct affirmative defense, Defendants allege that the Complaint 

fails to properly state a claim upon which interest may be awarded, as the damages claimed are not 

sufficiently certain to allow an award of interest. 

THIRTY-THIRD AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE 

(No Imposition Of Penalties) 

 34. As a separate and distinct affirmative defense, Defendants allege that, as applied to 

this putative class action, imposition of penalties would result in the imposition of excessive fines in 

violation of Article I, section 17 of the California Constitution and the Eighth Amendment to the 

United States Constitution, as made applicable to the states under the Fourteenth Amendment to the 

United States Constitution. 

THIRTY-FOURTH AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE 

(Unconstitutional Penalties) 

 35. As a separate and distinct affirmative defense, Defendants allege that the imposition 

of replicating individual penalties would deprive Defendants of its fundamental constitutional rights 

to due process under the Fourteenth Amendment of the United States Constitution and under the 

Constitution and laws of the State of California. See State Farm Mutual Automobile Insurance 

Company v. Campbell, 538 U.S. 408 (2003); People ex. rel. Lockyer v. R.J. Reynolds, 37 Cal. 4th 

707 (2005); Ratner v. Chemical Bank New York Trust Co., 54 F.R.D. 412 (S.D.N.Y. 1972).   
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DEFENDANTS’ ANSWER TO CLASS ACTION COMPLAINT 
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THIRTY-FIFTH AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE 

(Claims Discharged) 

 36. As a separate and distinct affirmative defense, Defendants allege that the Complaint, 

and each cause of action therein, are barred, in whole or in part, because all or a portion of the 

wages, premium pay, interest, attorneys’ fees, penalties and/or other relief sought by Plaintiff on his 

own behalf and/or the alleged putative class members, were, or will be before the conclusion of this 

action, paid or collected, and, therefore, Plaintiff’s claims and/or the claims of the alleged putative 

class members have been partially or completely discharged.  

THIRTY-SIXTH AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE 

(Avoidable Consequences) 

 37. As a separate and distinct affirmative defense, Defendants are informed and believe 

that a reasonable opportunity for investigation and discovery will reveal, and on that basis alleges 

that any recovery sought by way of Plaintiff’s Complaint by Plaintiff and/or any putative class 

members is barred in whole or in part by the avoidable consequences doctrine.  More specifically, 

Defendants are informed and believe that a reasonable opportunity for investigation and discovery 

will reveal that Plaintiff and/or any putative class members could have taken reasonable steps to 

avoid or mitigate the damages they now seek to recover.   

THIRTY-SEVENTH AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE 

(Labor Code Sections And IWC Orders – Unconstitutionally Vague) 

 38. As a separate and distinct affirmative defense, Defendants allege that the Complaint 

and each cause of action therein, or some of them, are barred because the applicable wage order(s) of 

the Industrial Welfare Commission is unconstitutionally vague and ambiguous and violates 

Defendants’ rights under the United States Constitution and the California Constitution as to, among 

other things, due process of law. 

THIRTY-NINTH AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE 

(No Employment Relationship) 

 39. As a separate and distinct affirmative defense, Defendants allege that there was no 

employment relationship between one or all of them and Plaintiff or any putative class member; 
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therefore, the Complaint, and each of its purported claims, fails to state a claim upon which relief 

can be granted as to Defendants, which never employed Plaintiff or any putative class member. 

FORTIETH AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE 

(Collateral Estopple/Res Judicata) 

 40. As a separate and distinct affirmative defense, Defendants allege that such claims are 

barred by collateral estoppel and/or res judicata insofar as Plaintiff and/or individual putative class 

members have litigated or will litigate issues raised by the Complaint prior to adjudication of those 

issues in the instant action. 

/// 

/// 

/// 
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ADDITIONAL DEFENSES 

 42. Defendants presently have insufficient knowledge or information upon which to form 

a belief as to whether there may be additional, as yet unstated, defenses and reserves the right to 

assert additional defenses or defenses in the event discovery indicates such defenses are appropriate.   

PRAYER FOR RELIEF 

WHEREFORE, Defendants pray for relief as follows: 

1. Plaintiff takes nothing by way of the Complaint; 

2. Plaintiff’s Complaint be dismissed in its entirety with prejudice; 

3. Judgment be entered against Plaintiff and in favor of Defendants on all of 

Plaintiff’s causes of action;  

4. Defendants be awarded its costs of suit and attorneys’ fees incurred as provided 

by law and/or contract; and 

5. For such other and further relief as the Court deems fair and just. 
 
Dated: October 17, 2018 
 

 

  
JULIE DUNNE 
CARLOS JIMENEZ 
PENNY CHEN 
LITTLER MENDELSON, P.C. 
Attorneys for Defendants 
GMRI, INC., OLIVE GARDEN HOLDINGS, 
LLC, DARDEN RESTAURANTS, INC. 
 

 
 
 
 
FIRMWIDE:158321100.2 069299.1178  
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PROOF OF SERVICE 

At the time of service, I was over the age of eighteen years, and not a party to the 
within action.  I am employed in the County of Los Angeles, State of California.  My business 
address is 633 West Fifth Street, 63rd Floor, Los Angeles, California 90071. 

On October 17, 2018, I served true copies(y) of the following document(s) described 
as DEFENDANTS GMRI, INC., OLIVE GARDEN HOLDINGS, LLC AND DARDEN 
RESTAURANTS, INC.’S ANSWER TO CLASS ACTION COMPLAINT on the 
interested parties in this action as follows:   

Matthew J. Matern, Esq. 
Joshua D. Boxer, Esq. 
Roy K. Suh, Esq. 
MATERN LAW GROUP, PC 
1230 Rosecrans Avenue, Suite 200 
Manhattan Beach, California 90266 
Telephone: (310) 531-1900 
Facsimile: (310) 531-1901 
Emails: mmatern@maternlawgroup.com 
 jboxer@maternlawgroup.com 
 rsuh@maternlawgroup.com 

Attorney for Plaintiff ADRIENNE LIGGINS 

 
 (BY U.S. MAIL) I enclosed the document(s) in a sealed envelope or package addressed to 
the persons at the addresses listed above or on the attached Service List and placed the envelope for 
collection and mailing, following Littler Mendelson’s ordinary business practices. I am readily 
familiar with Littler Mendelson’s practice for collecting and processing correspondence for mailing. 
On the same day that the correspondence is placed for collection and mailing, it is deposited in the 
ordinary course of business with the United States Postal Service, in a sealed envelope with postage 
fully prepaid. 

I declare under penalty of perjury under the laws of the State of California that the above is 
true and correct.  

I declare that I am employed in the office of a member of the bar of this court at whose 
direction the service was made.  Executed on October 17, 2018 at Los Angeles, California. 

 

      
Venus Bernardo 
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ClassAction.org
This complaint is part of ClassAction.org's searchable class action lawsuit database and can be found in this 
post: Olive Garden Employee Files Suit Over Alleged Wage and Hour Violations

https://www.classaction.org/news/olive-garden-employee-files-suit-over-alleged-wage-and-hour-violations
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